#### **REPORT**

"Protect, Prevent, Treat":
African Regional Workshop on coordinated approaches to pneumonia and diarrhoea prevention and control

Nairobi, Kenya, 25-28 January 2011



#### **CONTENTS**

List of Abbreviations	3
Acknowledgements	4
Executive summary	5
Introduction	8
Background	8
Purpose	9
Participants	
Objectives	
Expected outcomes	10
Opening Session	11
Session 1: "Protect, Prevent, Treat: an overview": An integrated framework fo	
prevention and control of pneumonia and diarrhoea	12
Presentation 1: Understanding the concept and principles of GAPP	
Presentation 2: Updates on integrated Community Case Management (iCCM) inc	
tool kit	
Presentation 3: Creating behavioural change and demand: Integrated framework f pneumonia/diarrhoea communication activities	
Presentation 4: Strengthening supply chain	
1 resentation 4. Strengthening supply chain	13
Session 2: Increasing awareness and building capacity for communication $\&$ action and the session $\&$ action	
Presentation 1: Kenya's experience with communication and advocacy	
Presentation 2: Advocacy and communication for World Pneumonia Day and for	
prevention and control	
Presentation 3: Communication and advocacy capacity building	1/
Session 3: Monitoring progress, research priorities and funding opportunities .	19
Presentation 1: Monitoring progress	
Presentation 2: Operational research agenda to support GAPP and diarrhoea contra	
strategies	20
Panel Discussion: Funding opportunities	21
Session 4: Sharing and learning from country experience	23
Session 5: Identifying coordinated actions	25
Conclusions	27
Annex 1: AgendaAnnex 2: List of Participants	
Annex 3: Outcome of country team group work	
Time of County team Stoak Working	

#### List of Abbreviations

ACT Artemisinin-based Combination Therapy

AMREF African Medical and Research Foundation

CHWs Community Health Workers

CAH WHO Department of Child and Adolescent Health and Development

CHAI Clinton Health Access Initiative

CHNRI Child Health Nutrition Research Initiative
CIDA Canadian International Development Agency

DHS Demographic and Health Surveys

EPI Expanded Programme on Immunization

ETAT Emergency Triage Assessment and Treatment

GAPP Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Pneumonia

GAVI Global Alliance for Vaccine and Immunization

GFATM Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria

HMIS Health Management Information Systems iCCM Integrated Community Case Management

IMCI Integrated Management of Childhood Illnesses

IVB WHO Department of Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals

KPA Kenya Paediatric Association

MCHIP Maternal and Child Health Integrated Programme

MDG Millennium Development Goal

MICS UNICEF's Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey

MNCH Maternal, Newborn and Child Health

MSH Management Sciences for Health
ORS Oral Rehydration Salts solution
PCV Pneumococcus Conjugate Vaccine

RDT Rapid Diagnostic Test

UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund

USAID United States Agency for International Development

WHO World Health Organization

#### Acknowledgements

The World Health Organization acknowledges the valuable contributions of the many people who assisted in the preparation/organization of this workshop, and in the development of this report, especially the Ministry of Health and government of Kenya for hosting the workshop and the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation for funding it.

#### © World Health Organization 2011

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by the World Health Organization to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either express or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall the World Health Organization be liable for damages arising from its use.

The views expressed in this report are those of the participants in the African Regional Workshop on coordinated approaches to pneumonia and diarrhoea prevention and control.

#### **Executive summary**

To support and facilitate the implementation of activities for the control of pneumonia and diarrhoea in children under five years of age living in developing countries, a series of four regional workshops is being organized by the World Health Organization (WHO) in collaboration with ministries of health, the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) and other partners. The workshops are intended to facilitate the introduction or scaling up of effective interventions through coordinated action at country level. This report describes the first workshop that was held in Nairobi, Kenya, 25-28 January 2011.

Jointly organized by WHO's Departments of Child and Adolescent Health and Development (CAH) and Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals (IVB) at Headquarters and the WHO Regional Office for Africa and funded through a grant from the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (BMGF), this four-day workshop brought together approximately 100 participants from eight countries (Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, Nigeria, Uganda, the United Republic of Tanzania and Zambia), as well as representatives of a wide range of international organizations, bilateral organizations, research institutions and non-governmental-organizations (NGOs) active in the area of child health¹. The country teams included focal points from ministries of health responsible for child health/the Integrated Management of Childhood Illness (IMCI), the Expanded Programme on Immunization (EPI), nutrition, malaria, and health systems/health policy.

#### The objectives of the workshop were:

- I. To orient participants to the concepts and practical principles of the Global Action Plan for the prevention and control of Pneumonia (GAPP)<sup>2</sup> and the seven-point plan for comprehensive diarrhoea control outlined in the WHO/UNICEF publication "Diarrhoea: Why children are still dying and what can be done"<sup>3</sup>, their relationships with existing programmes and the benefits of putting greater emphasis on these two illnesses; and provide technical updates on integrated community case management (iCCM).
- II. To analyse opportunities and obstacles to implementation, share lessons learned/best practices, and identify solutions, including policy issues, to increase coverage of pneumonia and diarrhoea prevention, treatment and control interventions at all levels.
- III. To foster collaboration and linkages across programmes by identifying and developing country-specific actions for practical application of the GAPP and diarrhoea control strategy to strengthen existing child survival and primary health care programmes.
- IV. To define the resources and technical assistance needed to ensure that coordinated actions and processes are implemented, and agree upon a set of indicators for monitoring and reporting.
- V. To increase awareness of and build capacity for communications and advocacy at country level to improve implementation of pneumonia and diarrhoea prevention, control and treatment interventions within the context of child survival programmes.

5

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> WHO, UNICEF, BMGF, the United States Agency for International Development (USAID), the Global Alliance for Vaccine and Immunization (GAVI), USAID's Maternal and Child Health Integrated Program (MCHIP), Program for Appropriate Technology in Health (PATH), Management Sciences for Health (MSH), Save the Children, the Clinton Health Access Initiative (CHAI), Sabin Institute, World Vision International, the African Medical and Research Foundation (AMREF) and the Kenya Paediatric Association. See Annex 2 for full list of participants.

www.who.int/child\_adolescent\_health/documents/fch\_cah\_nch\_09\_04

www.who.int/child\_adolescent\_health/documents/9789241598415

Prior to the workshop, a template was developed and distributed to country teams to support the preparation of situation analyses. This covered organizational structures, coordination mechanisms, programme budget and funding, training and supervision, Health Management Information Systems (HMIS), community structures and personnel, performance of programmes, gaps, opportunities and challenges. This helped to ensure that all country presentations were of high quality, and facilitated cross country comparison and sharing of experiences.

After brief statements by representatives of USAID, BMGF, and the WHO Representative for Kenya, Dr S.K. Sharif, Director of Public Health and Sanitation, Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation, Republic of Kenya, officially opened the workshop. Dr Sharif stressed that effective, high-impact interventions for pneumonia and diarrhoea control exist and are affordable, and called for strong coordination of implementation at country level.

Introductory sessions at the workshop included presentations on: the strategies and framework to "Protect, Prevent, Treat" pneumonia and diarrhoea; iCCM and a tool kit for its implementation; creating behaviour change and demand and an integrated framework for pneumonia/diarrhoea communication activities; and strengthening the supply chain.

During the workshop, intensive country team group work focused on national policies/strategies and strategic plans:

- (i) to find out if key pneumonia and diarrhoea prevention and control interventions have been included;
- (ii) to identify the main problems hindering implementation of proven intervention packages;
- (iii) to propose realistic solutions; and
- (iv) to identify opportunities for scaling up key pneumonia and diarrhoea interventions.

The country team group work was assisted by facilitators (WHO/UNICEF/USAID/Save the Children) who used a Facilitators' Guide specifically developed for the workshop. During the country team group work, coordinated actions were identified with an emphasis on fostering linkages between programmes.

Coordinated plans of action produced by the country teams during the workshop, focused mainly on coordination, capacity building, advocacy and communication, strengthening private sector involvement, monitoring and evaluation/data management, and supply chain logistics. In all countries, the key interventions for pneumonia and diarrhoea prevention and control were included in existing national policies and strategies, including community case management. However, coordination was identified as a challenge by most countries, and participants expressed a strong willingness to work together across programmes. In many cases, however, the authority to make the necessary changes to facilitate this was largely beyond the control of the workshop participants. Nevertheless, with the current momentum among governments, donors and partners towards more coordinated and integrated efforts for pneumonia and diarrhoea control, the process started at the workshop will likely find traction in countries.

At the close of the workshop, applying selection criteria (introduction of new vaccines within the next year; implementation of iCCM; and a supportive environment of government, donors and partners), workshop facilitators selected two countries -- Kenya and Zambia -- for more intensive follow-up and additional technical support within the scope of this initiative.

In order to maximize the benefit of this initiative, and to improve advocacy and communication for child health, pneumonia and diarrhoea prevention and control, the workshop included a half-day capacity building session on advocacy and communication. Communication specialists from the WHO Regional Offices for Africa and South-East Asia, UNICEF HQ/Regional Office, and PATH co-facilitated this interactive session. The session included a refresher on communication basics, the process for identifying a single, overarching communication objective, performing a stakeholder analysis, and developing targeted key messages. In addition, case studies were presented, including the innovative advocacy and communication activities undertaken by the Kenya Paediatric Association (KPA) in a presentation by KPA President, Dr Fred Were.

The workshop also provided an opportunity for:

- (i) A briefing on mechanisms and indicators for monitoring and reporting, including the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), the Countdown to 2015: Tracking progress in maternal, newborn and child health, Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS)/Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys (MICS), CCM Global Benchmark indicators, and the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA)/UNICEF Catalytic Initiative.
- (ii) An update on the operational research agenda to support the GAPP/diarrhoea control strategy.
- (iii) An overview of possible funding opportunities: GAVI highlighted the opportunity for using health systems strengthening (HSS) funds to support coordinated action plans with a joint GAVI-Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (GFATM) tranche of HSS funding becoming available in August 2011, as well as funding for new vaccines; the BMGF representative highlighted its support for research that complements country efforts; the Sabin Institute representative explained its advocacy support with parliamentarians; USAID and UNICEF highlighted linkages with their ongoing country support, with particular emphasis on support to iCCM through the President's Malaria Initiative.

In summary, the workshop successfully achieved its objectives. The collaboration between programmes was strengthened, and the participation of colleagues from the WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia enabled forward planning for the regional workshop to be held in Dhaka, Bangladesh.

#### Recommendations

WHO staff from headquarters and the Regional Office for Africa and partners will follow up on the implementation of coordinated actions identified by country teams. WHO will send a letter to WHO and UNICEF country representatives of the eight participating countries providing a short briefing on the workshop and requesting their support to ensure the implementation of coordinated action plans.

WHO will communicate with the two countries selected for intensified follow-up. Mapping of CAH and IVB activities and available support is to be done in collaboration with the African Regional Office in order to coordinate efforts and seek efficiencies.

#### Introduction

#### **Background**

Millennium Development Goal (MDG) 4<sup>4</sup> can only be achieved with intensified efforts to reduce the burden of the major causes of child deaths: pneumonia, diarrhoea, malaria, malnutrition, and neonatal problems. There is concern at the lack of adequate progress towards reducing morbidity and mortality from these conditions in low-resource settings.

Of the estimated 8.8 million child deaths that took place in 2008, an estimated 1.6 million were due to pneumonia and 1.3 million to diarrhoea -- more than any other disease. In spite of their huge toll and the availability of safe and effective interventions, relatively few resources have been dedicated to tackling these problems. Mortality due to these illnesses is strongly linked to malnutrition, poverty and inadequate access to health care. More than 98% of all pneumonia and diarrhoea deaths in children occur in 68 countries (the "Countdown to 2015" countries<sup>5</sup>). The burden that pneumonia and diarrhoea place on families and health systems in resource-constrained settings exacerbates inequalities. While the direct cost of treatment with antibiotics or oral rehydration salts (ORS) solution and zinc may be modest, the overall cost for a low-income household to access treatment can be very high, with indirect costs such as lost work time, transportation and out-of-pocket expenses. Reducing the burden of these diseases will not only make a key contribution to the achievement of MDG 4, it will also contribute to achieving MDG 1<sup>6</sup>.

Despite the opportunities for impact, implementation of actions to prevent and control pneumonia have thus far been uneven and service delivery remains largely uncoordinated. Only 54% of children with cough and difficult or rapid breathing in developing countries are taken to a qualified health care provider. Despite the essential role of antibiotics in reducing child deaths from pneumonia, only 19% of children under five with clinical signs of pneumonia receive antibiotics. Only 82% of children receive their first routine dose of a vaccine against measles (one of the diseases associated with severe pneumonia), and which requires coverage levels of >90% to interrupt transmission of the disease. There has been a significant reduction in measles deaths as a result of large-scale measles vaccination campaigns, but 2010 was characterized by wide-spread outbreaks, particularly in Africa. Not all countries have introduced vaccination against other causative agents of severe pneumonia, such as *Haemophilus influenzae* type b (Hib), although there has been recent progress in this area.

In developing countries, only 39% of children under five with diarrhoea receive the recommended treatment (ORS with continued feeding) to prevent dehydration and worsening nutritional status, and this level is dropping. Furthermore, the newly available rotavirus vaccine is only beginning to be introduced in a few countries.

This situation must change. Unprecedented opportunities have arisen in recent years with renewed momentum for primary health care and efforts to strengthen health systems capacity; the availability of integrated approaches such as IMCI at all levels; iCCM; and the introduction of vaccines against Hib, *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (pneumococcus) and rotavirus.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Target 4A: Reduce by two thirds, between 1990 and 2015, the under-five mortality rate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> www.countdown2015mnch.org

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Target 1.C: Halve, between 1990 and 2015, the proportion of people who suffer from hunger

With accelerated implementation of strategies to deliver high-impact interventions, the number of pneumonia and diarrhoea deaths can drop substantially.

There is a good deal of overlap between pneumonia and diarrhoea control interventions, and coordinating these interventions will create synergies that will further contribute to the achievement of MDG 4. Exclusive breastfeeding, hand washing with soap, immunization, adequate nutrition, appropriate home-based care, prompt care-seeking and standard case management are common to the prevention and control of both illnesses. Resources and improved coordination approaches for service delivery are necessary to achieve scale-up in developing countries.

#### **Purpose**

The intent of the Nairobi workshop was to review programme efforts related to the implementation of pneumonia and diarrhoea control interventions in high-burden countries in Africa, and ensure/facilitate coordinated implementation to increase coverage within ongoing, integrated approaches to child survival (See annex 1: Agenda).

#### **Participants**

Participants consisted of teams from eight countries (Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, Nigeria, Uganda, United Republic of Tanzania, and Zambia) comprising focal points from ministries of health for child health/IMCI, EPI, nutrition, malaria, and health systems/health policy, as well as programme managers for child health and child health related programmes, planning officers, deputy commissioners of health. They also included representatives of WHO, UNICEF, BMGF, USAID, GAVI, MCHIP, PATH, MSH, Save the Children, CHAI, Sabin Institute, World Vision International, AMREF and the Kenya Paediatric Association. The CAH Regional Advisers and Communication Officers from the WHO Regional Offices for Africa and South-East Asia also participated (see Annex 2: List of Participants).

#### **Objectives**

The specific objectives of the workshop were:

- To orient participants to the concepts and practical principles of the GAPP and sevenpoint comprehensive strategy for diarrhoea control, their relationships with existing programmes, and the benefits of putting greater emphasis on these two illnesses; and provide technical updates on iCCM and implications for the health system.
- To analyse opportunities and obstacles to implementation, share lessons learned/best practices and identify solutions, including policy issues, to increase coverage of pneumonia and diarrhoea prevention, treatment and control at all levels.
- To foster collaboration and linkages across programmes by identifying and developing country-specific actions for practical application of the GAPP and diarrhoea control strategy to strengthen existing child survival and primary health care programmes.

- To define the resources and technical assistance needed to ensure that coordinated actions and processes are implemented, and agree upon a set of indicators for monitoring and reporting.
- To increase awareness of and build capacity for communications and advocacy at country level to improve implementation of pneumonia and diarrhoea control, prevention and treatment within the context of child survival programmes.

#### **Expected outcomes**

- A **common understanding** of the concepts, general principles and technical tools for the GAPP and diarrhoea control strategy, the advantages and implications for the health system, and how to effectively advocate for implementation with all relevant players at country level.
- Development and identification of **coordinated actions** for incorporation into national plans for the prevention and control of pneumonia and diarrhoea in participating countries.
- Identification of **required resources and technical assistance** to support coordinated actions and processes, and identification of possible funding opportunities (such as the GFATM and GAVI health system strengthening windows), and using the introduction of new vaccines as a platform for accelerated pneumonia and diarrhoea control efforts.
- Information to assist in the **selection of two demonstration countries** to document the key determinants of successful implementation and the impact of joint strategies.

#### **Opening Session**

The following is a summary of remarks made during the opening session of the workshop.

#### a) Dr Douglas Holzman, BMGF

This workshop comes at a timely moment to spearhead the work that will be critical to achieving the MDGs. It is vital that all stakeholders take up their responsibility, using the available tools and taking advantage of new opportunities such as the introduction of new vaccines, to achieve agreed goals in spite of the challenges.

#### b) Ms Lilian Mutea, USAID, Kenya

The emerging collaboration is encouraging and vital for progress to be made, especially in the countries where the achievement of the MDGs is under threat.

#### c) Dr Abdoulie Jack, WHO Country Representative, Kenya

This workshop is opportune and an illustration of the unity that will be essential on a global scale in order to achieve the MDGs. Nearly 40% of childhood deaths are due to pneumonia and diarrhoea. However, two-thirds of pneumonia deaths are avoidable with high coverage of interventions such as immunization.

This -- the first workshop to be convened in the region on improving prevention and control of pneumonia and diarrhoea through common synergistic interventions -- brings focus to the significance of working together, which is vital to tackling the health systems challenges that contribute to the lag in achieving the MDGs. On top of the various initiatives that are underway in countries such as Kenya, it will be important to take advantage of the emerging momentum to enhance achievement by strengthening coordination and harmonization. Unity, better coordination, support of NGOs, communities and partners will be vital in harnessing opportunities.

d) Dr S. K. Sharif, Director of Public Health and Sanitation, Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation, Republic of Kenya

Although Kenya has made substantial progress, it still lags behind, and like most African countries, may be delayed in meeting the MDGs. There is a need to scale-up high impact interventions. Kenya will be the first country to introduce the pneumococcus conjugate vaccine (PCV) in February 2011.

It is important to work with other sectors, such as water/sanitation and education, which play a vital contributory role in improving health.

Despite the challenges of working across programmes and implementation plans, the achievement of global goals hinges on partnerships (national, regional and international). There is a need to synergize the work of multiple committees and programmes.

# Session 1: "Protect, Prevent, Treat: an overview": An integrated framework for the prevention and control of pneumonia and diarrhoea

The objectives of the session were:

- (i) to orient participants to the concepts and practical principles of the GAPP and seven-point comprehensive strategy for diarrhoea control, their relationships with existing programmes, the benefits of putting greater emphasis on these two illnesses and the implications for the health system; and
- (ii) to update participants on integrated community case management (iCCM) including available tools and frameworks for implementation.

#### Presentation 1: Understanding the concept and principles of GAPP

Dr Shamim Qazi (WHO/CAH) gave an overview presentation on the Global Action Plan for the prevention and control of Pneumonia (GAPP) and the seven-point comprehensive strategy for diarrhoea control. He explained that pneumonia and diarrhoea account for one third of all childhood deaths each year. The 10 countries with highest pneumonia mortality are the same 10 with highest diarrhoea mortality. In Africa, pneumonia and diarrhoea cause 37% of child deaths each year. MDG 4 can only be achieved with an intensified effort to reduce child deaths due to pneumonia and diarrhoea. Since pneumonia and diarrhoea are caused by multiple pathogens, no single intervention can address the entire burden. A set of 16 complementary interventions of proven effectiveness address the diseases, and many help control *both*. Yet, they have generally not been well implemented, and coverage across the interventions remains uneven.

It is necessary to establish better coordination and create synergies and efficiencies for the scaled-up delivery of selected interventions through existing programmes (EPI, IMCI, CCM, Safe Motherhood, Child Nutrition, HIV prevention, Environmental Health). These joint approaches can include (but are not limited to):

- Joint review of policies and strategies;
- Joint planning;
- Joint advocacy and social mobilization;
- Harmonization of processes for procurement and management of supplies and for logistics; and
- Development of synergies in processes for monitoring and evaluation.

Over 5.3 million deaths due to pneumonia and diarrhoea can be averted around the world from 2010 to 2015 if the coverage of the interventions can be increased to 90%. The intensification of efforts to reduce pneumonia and diarrhoea deaths is the surest way of achieving MDG 4. It is therefore essential that actions by multiple players to improve pneumonia and diarrhoea control are initiated or strengthened. The introduction of PCV, *Hib* and rotavirus vaccines, the important progress made in improving case management and availing new treatment options, and the renewed interest in creating synergies between programmes provide new opportunities for pneumonia and diarrhoea control.

## Presentation 2: Updates on integrated Community Case Management (iCCM) including the toolkit

Joint presentations were made by Dr Mark Young (UNICEF), Dr Diaa Hammamy (USAID) and Dr Emmanuel Wansi (MCHIP) to share updates on iCCM implementation and available tools and experiences.

Dr Young gave an update on the status of iCCM implementation. He mentioned that multi-country reviews have demonstrated that community health workers (CHWs), provided with adequate training, supervision, tools, and logistical support, can correctly identify and appropriately treat children with:

- Diarrhoea: using low-osmolarity ORS and zinc;
- Pneumonia: using antibiotics (amoxicillin, co-trimoxazole); and
- Malaria: using rapid diagnostic tests (RDTs) and Artemisinin-based combination therapies (ACTs).

iCCM is an important strategy for providing programmatic support to front-line health workers to diagnose and treat *all three* of these common childhood killers in communities lacking easy access to health facilities. Despite the demonstrated benefits of iCCM, there has been little progress on iCCM in Africa to date.

Dr Hammamy reiterated USAID's role in supporting countries to roll out iCCM. USAID's Child Survival and Health Grants Program (CSHGP) contributes to 17 iCCM projects in 12 countries (Afghanistan, Benin, Burundi, Ethiopia, India, Liberia, Nepal, Niger, Rwanda, Sudan, Uganda and Zambia). Seven of the 17 projects are implementing iCCM (malaria, diarrhoea, pneumonia), while others focus on a single disease area. USAID's total CSHGP investment in these projects is \$28 million (2006-2014), and the CCM components of the projects are estimated at \$14 million. Overall, USAID contributes around \$30 million to iCCM through CSHGP, the President's Malaria Initiative, and bilateral projects.

#### **Community Case Management Interagency Task Force**

An update was also given on the work of the CCM Interagency Task Force including the development of the iCCM benchmark matrix, which is a tool for programmatic planning, implementation, and scale-up.

The iCCM benchmark matrix includes:

- Eight key systems components for CCM programmes:
  - 1. Coordination and policy setting,
  - 2. Costing and financing,
  - 3. Human resources,
  - 4. Supply chain management,
  - 5. Service delivery and referral,
  - 6. Communication and social mobilization,
  - 7. Supervision and performance quality assurance,
  - 8. Monitoring and evaluation and health information systems.
- The benchmark matrix makes reference to three phases of implementation, including:
  - 1. Advocacy/planning,
  - 2. Pilot/early implementation,
  - 3. Expansion/scale-up.

In each phase, benchmarks for each of the eight key systems components are available to guide programme planning and implementation through a health systems approach.

Dr Wansi gave an update on the iCCM Toolkit and experiences with implementation of iCCM in the region.

The toolkit is organized around:

- Policy/advocacy/planning;
- Implementation;
- Monitoring and evaluation; and
- Logistics.

Experience with implementation of iCCM in Senegal and the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC) highlighted the following key points:

- Empowering the intermediate level is challenging, but key to ensuring quality support and mobilization of peripheral resources, especially in a decentralized system.
- Engaging district-level and community health centres requires advocacy and investment.
- Frequent drug stock-outs are a major problem with CCM, sometimes independent of the situation within the health system.
- Implementation of IMCI at the health facility level does not constitute a paramount condition for the launch of case management programmes at community level.

The conclusions of this presentation were as follows:

**Policy:** although policy gaps exist for all conditions, supportive policy does exist and change is possible. More effort is needed for supportive policies for the CCM of pneumonia.

**Scale of implementation**: CCM of pneumonia and diarrhoea lag behind CCM of malaria (probably due to the availability of resources through GFATM and the President's Malaria Initiative).

**Integration:** integration and working across programmes has been initiated and is promising for implementation led by ministries of health.

**MoH concerns:** the top five priorities are incentives/motivation for CHWs, policy change, quality of care, integration and supply, and logistics.

The profiles of CHWs are variable, from substantially trained, salaried health workers to community volunteers with limited training.

## Presentation 3: Creating behaviour change and demand: Integrated framework for pneumonia/diarrhoea communication activities

In this presentation, Dr Osman Mansoor (UNICEF) emphasized the need for a coordinated communication approach to encompass the entire spectrum of what is required to make a difference. While it is important to achieve synergy in the interventions against diarrhoea and pneumonia, the role and power of communities and individuals to reduce diarrhoea and pneumonia deaths also needs to be acknowledged. Healthy actions play a key role in all interventions since "protection" is mainly about behaviour. The core of all interventions for

pneumonia and diarrhoea is therefore based on what people do. Communication should be aimed at informing communities in order to elicit healthy actions.

A proper communication framework encompassing coordination, capacity and change needs to be cultivated. The planning steps of the communication framework should entail:

- Analysis;
- Design;
- Implementation; and
- Evaluation.

#### **Presentation 4: Strengthening the supply chain**

An overview of the problems related to the "supply chain" was given by Ms Lora Shimp (MCHIP). At present, supply chains are characterized by insufficient government funding and duplication. In addition, often donors bypass the government and create new parallel systems. There is a need for donors and governments to develop central coordination mechanisms to simplify and harmonize systems.

There is also a need for consideration of product requirements, such as vaccine temperature sensitivities, cold-chain maintenance and integration to strengthen the supply chain. This will require:

- strong political will;
- supportive policies;
- adequate funding;
- improved health worker capacity;
- clear definitions of responsibilities for monitoring;
- building on existing primary health care structures; and
- segmentation.

Service providers need to look beyond commodities and consider other important elements like communications, training, and surveillance.

Five preconditions for successful Supply Chain for Community Case Management (SC4CCM) were presented:

- 1. Necessary, usable, quality CCM products are available at CHW resupply point(s).
- 2. CHWs, or persons responsible for CHW resupply, know how, where, what, when and how much of each product to requisition or re-supply and take necessary actions.
- 3. CHWs have adequate storage.
- 4. Goods are routinely transported between re-supply points and CHWs.
- 5. CHWs are motivated to perform their roles in the CCM product supply chain.

Preliminary findings from Malawi indicate that preconditions 1 and 4 are critical and drive product availability at the CHW level.

Ensuring the availability of medicines for treating diarrhoea and pneumonia at the national level requires the ability to forecast, to consider the reliability of information and balance that with actual needs. Various considerations such as regional workload, prevalence of disease, seasonal variations and regional changes are key determinants in forecasting.

## Session 2: Increasing awareness and building capacity for communication & advocacy

The objective of this session was to increase awareness of and build capacity for communications and advocacy at country level to improve implementation of pneumonia and diarrhoea control, prevention and treatment within the context of child survival programmes.

#### Presentation 1: Kenya's experience with communication and advocacy

Experience from Kenya, presented by Dr Fred Were, President of the Kenya Paediatric Association (KPA), demonstrated the importance of effective advocacy for improving child survival. He presented data showing steady rises in EPI coverage associated with a decline in under-five mortality. He stressed, however, that much more needs to be done to ensure universal coverage, and that the role of advocates like the KPA is important.

Since 2006, the KPA has been actively supporting the Government of Kenya to enhance routine immunization at all levels. The organization has worked intensively to enhance health workers' knowledge of the importance of immunization – moving beyond the ward and into the community; to inform the public and promote demand; and to lobby the government and donors to ensure that immunization is included in their agenda. The KPA works to ensure that immunization remains prominent in the national media by holding public events. Through ongoing and effective advocacy, the organization has earned the respect and trust of the Government and partners and is regularly called upon to support work on a number of important child health issues.

The key messages from Dr Were's presentation were:

- The key to success is working with governments and other partners collaboratively, "going beyond borders", enlisting heroes and champions for the cause and actively passing the message verbally and visually your message must be strong!
- The KPA stands by its belief that "people may care but don't know so we must inform them; people may know but don't care we must convince them with passion towards a simple and shared goal".

## Presentation 2: Advocacy and communication for World Pneumonia Day and for diarrhoea prevention and control

In her presentation Ms Doune Porter (PATH/GAVI) emphasized the importance of advocacy and communication as an essential component of every public health programme. Effective advocacy and communication can make a crucial difference at *every* level:

- in seeking funding donors must be persuaded of the value of the programme, especially in a time of economic constraints;
- the public in donor countries must also be convinced, so donor governments know their own stakeholders support programme funding decisions;
- national governments need to be persuaded to establish appropriate policies and to allocate their own limited resources to the programme;
- health workers should be encouraged to implement the policies effectively; and

• the community/public must be persuaded to demand/take-up the programme services.

Unfortunately the important role that advocacy and communications play is often misunderstood, and not taken into account as part of the strategic planning process. Public health experts often do not understand how little people know about their particular area of expertise.

World Pneumonia Day was launched on 2 November 2009 as a vehicle to put pneumonia on the global agenda. There was recognition that although 1.5 million children die globally from pneumonia there is a need to galvanize support around the problem and to offer solutions. At the time, there were very few voices championing the issue (unlike HIV and malaria, for example – programmes with strong champions and funding). World Pneumonia Day was established as a platform to engage decision-makers at the highest level and citizens at the grassroots level and to galvanize broad support for action to address pneumonia. Since 2009, the number of partners participating in the event has grown from four to 100.

## Examples of national advocacy and communications activities for World Pneumonia Day

- The Cameroon Pediatric Association worked with the country's largest mobile phone company to send four million text messages about pneumonia;
- A hospital in Nigeria staged plays to raise awareness about the danger signs of pneumonia among parents, children and teachers; and
- A pneumonia rally and symposium in Bangladesh led to the establishment of a parliamentary action group to ensure MPs support the health sector.

Small grants and resources are available to help grassroots organizations celebrate World Pneumonia Day. Information can be found at: <a href="https://www.worldpneumoniaday.org">www.worldpneumoniaday.org</a>.

Ms Porter also spoke about advocacy and communications efforts in the area of diarrhoea. In March 2010, the Government of Kenya launched a national policy to strengthen the availability and uptake of proven health interventions to manage and control diarrhoeal disease. Despite the fact that diarrhoeal disease is the leading cause of child death in Kenya, many Kenyans have not taken adequate precautions against it, believing it a normal part of childhood. The policy was launched with a major media and communications push, stressing at both policy and public levels the importance of preventing and treating the disease and underlining the Government's commitment to do so. The launch of the policy was used to raise awareness about diarrhoeal disease and to create a platform for discussion around it. Through the effective engagement of the media, clear messages were given from the Government to the community on the prevention and treatment of diarrhoea.

The conclusion of the presentations is that advocacy and communications are an integral part of any successful public health programme.

#### Presentation 3: Communication and advocacy capacity building

A key objective of the session was to build capacity among workshop participants for effective advocacy/communications. A presentation was given and simulation exercises were led by Mrs Vismita Gupta-Smith (WHO/SEARO) and Mr Collins Boakye-Ayemang (WHO/AFRO). Topics covered were: key communications challenges and tips; setting a

single, overarching communications objective (SOCO); stakeholder analysis; and developing key messages. For each concept presented, participants were engaged in exercises to practice and develop skills.

#### Key tips for effective communications and advocacy

- Set a single, overarching communications objective (SOCO)
  - a. How? What is the issue: What is new and compelling for the audience? What change do you want to bring about?
  - b. Challenge get to the point straight away, grab the attention of the audience.
- Think of your audience
  - a. Do an analysis of who is who on your issue Champions (active supporters); Silent Boosters (passive supporters); Avoiders (passive resisters); and Blockers (active resisters) and decide who you will aim to reach.
  - b. Put yourself in the shoes of those you are trying to convince. They will ask themselves "What's in it for me?" The message must be tailored according to the audience, simple and easy to understand.
- 7 Cs of public health communication:
  - 1. Command the attention of your audience
  - 2. Clarify your message keep it simple
  - 3. Communicate a benefit
  - 4. Consistency counts your figures and messages must remain consistent for credibility
  - 5. Cater to the hearts (and heads) of your audience
  - 6. Create trust
  - 7. Call to action make sure that you are clear about what you want them to DO as a result of getting your message.

A pre-training questionnaire and an end-of-session evaluation were used to gather feedback from participants before and after the training in order to assess its effectiveness. Nearly all participants gave a strong positive response to the communication session and most indicated that they would be confident to use what they had learnt in the immediate future. The analysis of responses to the questionnaires has been useful in understanding the relevance of the training, and in identifying areas to be strengthened for future workshops.

## Session 3: Monitoring progress, research priorities and funding opportunities

The objectives of this session were to share an update on progress towards the achievement of MDGs and the instruments available to measure progress, as well to provide a briefing on current research priorities and funding opportunities.

#### **Presentation 1: Monitoring progress**

Dr Young (UNICEF) gave an overview of the existing mechanisms for monitoring and tracking progress towards the MDGs both in terms of results of implementation and financial resources. These include the UN Secretary-General's Global Strategy on Women's and Children's Health – Commission on Information and Accountability (hosted by WHO), and the Countdown to 2015.

The key messages from the presentation and discussions were:

- Parallel systems should not be set up and monitoring activities should fit within existing national M&E platforms or plans;
- A focus on a limited number of key indicators to track progress is best;
- It is better to have a few high-quality data rather than many low-quality data; and
- There is a need to disaggregate data to sub-national and district levels to identify inequities and poor performing areas that require more support.

The importance of using data to inform programmes and make necessary programmatic decisions was underscored. This requires strengthening of routine data systems to track key process, output and outcome indicators. The possible sources of data are:

- Programme reviews;
- Health facility surveys (first- and referral-level);
- Quality of care assessments;
- Periodic large-scale household surveys, e.g. DHS, MICS; and
- Smaller "lighter" surveys for more frequent data collection.

The CCM Global Benchmark indicators for process and inputs, outputs and outcomes were introduced briefly.

Finally, the Monitoring and Evaluation of the UNICEF-CIDA "Catalytic Initiative" Programme was highlighted with a focus on key outcome monitoring indicators.

The key areas for documentation and monitoring of iCCM are:

- CCM Policy;
- CCM Implementation Strength;
- Utilization of CCM services; and
- "Point of Treatment" coverage for CCM.

Workshop participants emphasized the importance of data collection to show trends in terms of morbidity and mortality. Since iCCM improves access to timely treatment, the number of severe cases needing referral would be expected to decrease. Therefore, it was proposed to

have an indicator to measure severe cases in health facilities to appreciate the impact of iCCM. Participants also raised concerns about the multitude of reporting forms that busy health workers have to complete, emphasizing the urgent need to harmonize and reduce the number of reporting forms.

Drug quantification for iCCM was mentioned as a challenge since a precise estimation of incidence of diseases throughout the year is not available. The need to monitor the quality of care provided by CHWs when applying iCCM was also emphasized, to ensure the safety of the patient and avoid misuse of drugs and the potential risk of the emergence of resistance. It was noted, however, that the fear of seeing an increase in antimicrobial resistance following CHW authorization to provide antibiotics for treating pneumonia appears to be unfounded. Indeed, there is ample evidence that trained and supervised CHWs use antibiotics even more rationally than conventional health workers. It was concluded, then, that the authorization of trained CHWs to use antibiotics to treat pneumonia in the community will undoubtedly promote the rational use of antibiotics.

## Presentation 2: Operational research agenda to support GAPP and diarrhoea control strategies

Dr Qazi (WHO) introduced the list of research priorities for pneumonia and diarrhoea, and described how it was developed using the Child Health Nutrition Research Initiative (CHNRI) methodology. Using this methodology, research questions aimed at better understanding the barriers to implementation, effectiveness and the optimal use of available interventions and programmes scored the highest.

The top five research areas/questions for diarrhoea are:

- 1. What is the acceptability and effectiveness of low-osmolarity ORS in clinics and in the community? How to improve it?
- 2. What is the effectiveness of zinc supplementation on the outcome and incidence of diarrhoea in the community?
- 3. What are the barriers impeding the appropriate use of ORS? How can they be overcome?
- 4. Design locally-adapted training programmes to orient health workers on IMCI.
- 5. What is the impact of IMCI in different population groups on the timely identification and treatment of acute diarrhoea?

For pneumonia, the top five research areas/questions are:

- 1. What are the main barriers to care-seeking and access to services for children with pneumonia in different contexts and settings?
- 2. What are the key risk factors predisposing a child to the development of severe pneumonia and hospitalization?
- 3. What are the main barriers to increasing coverage with available vaccines *Hib* and pneumococcal in different contexts and settings?
- 4. Study whether the coverage of antibiotic treatment can be greatly expanded, safely and effectively, if it is administered by community health workers?
- 5. What are the main barriers to increasing demand for/compliance with vaccination with available vaccines in different contexts and settings?

Plenary discussion highlighted the following key points:

- The CHNRI methodology used to identify priority research questions focused on issues that could have an impact on the achievement of the MDGs by 2015.
- In order to increase the use and coverage of ORT/ORS, the respective roles of ORS and home-made solutions in the management of diarrhoea should be clarified.
- The importance of defining new delivery strategies for ORS is important.
- Resistance to the use of antibiotics for community case management of pneumonia is based on the premise that it will increase irrational use of antibiotics and lead to antibiotic resistance. However, there is ample evidence that trained and supervised CHWs use antibiotics rationally, even more so than conventional health workers.
- The relationship between antibiotic *in vitro* resistance and clinical failure is not straightforward in pneumonia treated in the community and needs to be investigated.
- It was also emphasized that operational research should not only be a concern for researchers but for implementers as well, and that scale-up of interventions needs to be based on scientific evidence.

#### **Panel Discussion: Funding opportunities**

An overview of possible funding opportunities was presented in a round table discussion in which various organizations and agencies were represented.

**GAVI**'s main support in this field is for the introduction of new vaccines, e.g. DTP-HepB-*Hib*, rotavirus and pneumococcal. There will be an application round for support to introduce new vaccines with the closing date of 15 May 2011. Joint proposals to GAVI and GFATM for health systems strengthening support are also possible.

The **Sabin Institute** supports national Ministry of Health officials through intensive briefings in their 'lobbying' of the Ministry of Finance and of Parliamentarians for increased domestic financing for immunization and integrated approaches to vaccine-preventable disease control.

The **Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation** supports global infrastructure development, and innovative financing mechanisms, works to achieve lower prices of vaccines and medical products and supports emerging vaccine manufacturers, all in an entrepreneurial spirit. The BMGF is "more than just vaccines" – the foundation supports the piloting, expansion and scale-up of broad, integrated health interventions.

**USAID**, together with UNICEF, WHO and BMGF, coordinates efforts for integrated community case management activities through a CCM Taskforce. Through USAID missions in countries, applications for funds from the President's Global Health Initiative can be made for support of CCM activities. USAID missions also provide technical assistance for health systems strengthening, and USAID/Washington runs a child survival grant programme. Through USAID/Washington, a number of health-related programmes and activities are supported, such as the Maternal and Child Health Integrated Program (MCHIP), the Health Care Improvement Program, SHOPS project for support of the private sector, and WASH+ for water and sanitation work.

The **United Kingdom** will soon provide funding for the implementation of its new reproductive and neonatal health strategies for developing countries. Funding opportunities may also be available through support for malaria programmes in developing countries.

**UNICEF** mainly provides technical assistance to countries and health programmes and assists in attracting funders and in mobilizing resources to improve child health. To overcome operational challenges in countries, UNICEF assists countries to synchronize national actions, to provide policy options, to work towards programme congruence and improved implementation.

The WHO Regional Office for Africa works with country programme managers and higher officials in ministries of health to increase domestic funding for integrated health programmes in the context of the Abuja Declaration targets to spend 15% of the national budgets on health. WHO provides mainly technical assistance, high-level expertise and guidelines to countries, but can also provide some catalytic or seed funding for innovative health programmes. It is to be noted that CIDA funding for maternal and child health work in the African Region (in the amount of US\$ 50 million) will become available through WHO in the near future.

#### **Session 4: Sharing and learning from country experience**

The objectives of this session were:

- (i) to analyse opportunities for and obstacles to implementation;
- (ii) to share lessons learned/best practices; and
- (iii) to identify solutions, including policy issues, that can facilitate increasing coverage of pneumonia and diarrhoea prevention, treatment and control at all levels.

Prior to the workshop, a template was developed and distributed to country teams to support the preparation of situation analyses. This covered organizational structures, coordination mechanisms, programme budget and funding, training and supervision, HMIS, community structures and personnel, performance of programmes, gaps, opportunities and challenges. The resulting situation analysis presentations were presented by the country groups in plenary sessions (see Annex 3 for presentations). The standardized template facilitated cross-country comparison and sharing of experiences.

Key messages from the country presentations:

- Diarrhoea and pneumonia are among the leading causes of death in children under five years of age.
- Progress has been made towards achieving MDG 4, but it is insufficient to reach the target by 2015. Unless the coverage of effective interventions for diarrhoea and pneumonia is increased to 90%, reaching MDG 4 will not be possible.
- More needs to be done to scale-up diarrhoea and pneumonia interventions in all
- In general, policies and strategies related to child survival and child health are in place in countries. However, the implementation of these policies and strategies is suboptimal.
- In several countries the policy of community pneumonia treatment by CHWs either does not exist or needs to be improved.
- Integrated community case management (iCCM) needs to be scaled-up to increase coverage for treatment of diarrhoea, pneumonia and malaria in the community.
- Although many programmes, civic society and private sector provide services towards child survival and child health, there is very little coordination or collaboration between them.
- There are few human and financial resources available to improve the quality of care at all levels of the health system and to increase coverage.
- In several countries the supply of ORS, zinc and antibiotics is inefficient, insufficient and ruptures of stocks are common.
- Public demand for services and care-seeking for diarrhoea and pneumonia is low in many countries.
- Motivation and incentives for health workers are essential for improving access to quality care, and to ensure the retention of workers.
- In many countries coordinating mechanisms exist, but vary in approaches and breadth and there is also wider variation in organization of ministries of health.
- Although not in line with various commitments made (e.g. Abuja Declaration), governments are allocating more national funds to health. Ther is a need for more

- The current political environment national and global to accelerate action towards the achievement of MDGs is favourable (as indicated by ongoing policy dialogues for iCCM). This opportunity needs to be well utilized to implement interventions across the continuum of care.
- There are specific budgets for specific programmatic interventions such as malaria and EPI but no dedicated specific budget for child survival or child health
- Access to community case management care and definition of CHWs is variable from paid MOH staff to community volunteers.
- Advocacy and political commitment have been key to progress.
- All the countries represented in the workshop have plans for introducing the new vaccines (Rotavirus or pneumococcal).

#### Some of the **challenges** mentioned by countries included:

- Low coverage of some of the interventions, e.g. EBF, hand washing and sanitation due to lack of coordination and adequate involvement of all sectors.
- Low coverage of training in IMCI due to high attrition rate, inadequate funds, low donor interest due to no quick win.
- Policies do not support the use of antibiotics by CHWs.
- Health systems challenges (access to services, human resources constraints and shortage of drugs).
- Shortage of financial resources.
- Shortage and high turnover of skilled human resources.
- Inadequate access to health facilities.
- Lack of essential equipment and supplies.
- Inadequate programme coordination.
- Inadequate monitoring and evaluation system.
- Low care-seeking behavior in communities.

The country presentations highlighted the following **opportunities** for introducing or accelerating a coordinated action for pneumonia and diarrhoea control:

- Global and national political commitment to achieve MDGs.
- Country initiatives accelerating the expansion of Primary Health Care initiatives such as the roll out plan of the health extension programme in Ethiopia.
- Wide experience in implementing child health programmes.
- Introduction of new vaccines (Hib).
- Evidence for policy changes in CCM of pneumonia.
- Strong partnership for child survival.
- Availability of data for programme planning and for enhancing advocacy.
- Existence of funding opportunities.
- Willingness, commitment, interest and the realization that coordination and harmonization are essential ingredients for success.
- Experiences and best practices.

#### **Session 5: Identifying coordinated actions**

The objective of this session was to foster collaboration and linkages across programmes by identifying and developing country-specific actions for practical application of the GAPP and the comprehensive diarrhoea control strategy to strengthen child survival and primary health care programmes.

Using a series of worksheets and information from the situation analyses, participants worked in country team working groups to:

- Identify the pneumonia and diarrhoea prevention and control interventions that have been included in existing policies/strategies/plans;
- Identify the pneumonia and diarrhoea prevention and control interventions that need to be updated or included in existing policies/strategies/plans;
- Describe existing coordination mechanisms and linkages between the different child survival and child health-related strategies, policies and programmes;
- Identify major problems affecting implementation; and
- Develop recommendations for coordinated actions to scale-up pneumonia and diarrhoea prevention and control interventions.

The outcome of the group work was presented and discussed in plenary. This session provided opportunities for peer review of draft recommendations and next steps for country actions (see Annex 3: Coordinated approaches).

The key points that emerged from country plans included:

- Coordination mechanisms need to be either developed or reinvigorated in the form of technical working groups, coordination committees, etc. at the country level to increase collaboration across all child survival and child health-related programmes. Other programmes that have an indirect impact, such as water, sanitation and environment, also need to be further engaged in these coordination mechanisms. Where necessary, advocacy and lobbying need to be done to get these programmes more involved in child survival activities. In addition, the private sector needs to be included in coordination efforts.
- There is a proposal for some countries to institutionalize the high-level committees at ministerial level to increase coordination and increase resource flows to support the implementation of interventions for diarrhoea and pneumonia control.
- Creating an enabling environment is critical to ensure support for implementation of key child survival interventions. Thus, where there is a gap in supportive policies, such as the policy on the use of low-osmolarity ORS and zinc, or community case management of pneumonia, coordinated action from partners will be essential to facilitate policy dialogue.
- Advocating and lobbying for more resources to increase the coverage of pneumonia and diarrhoea interventions to policy makers and planners at ministries of health, finance, parliaments, donors, etc.

- It is important to have a national communication strategy that includes reaching out to the media, public, opinion and community leaders to increase awareness of and support for increasing coverage and utilization of effective pneumonia and diarrhoea interventions.
- Existing programmes provide additional channels for the delivery of effective interventions. These include the promotion of CCM through the malaria programme, improving supply and logistics for commodities like ORS, zinc, antimalarial drugs, RDTs for malaria and antibiotics through the health system strengthening initiatives.
- There is a need to identify the best ways of quantifying resource needs at the community level. This includes commodities and human resources.
- Although zinc and low-osmolarity ORS have been widely adopted for the treatment of diarrhoea, they are still not available in many countries. Partners should support and facilitate local production and technology transfer.
- To increase utilization and care seeking, quality of care should be improved at all levels of the health system, e.g. introducing Emergency Triage and Treatment (ETAT), improving and sustaining skills at community-, first- and referral-level facilities.

#### **Conclusions**

The workshop provided an opportunity for country teams and partners to jointly review national efforts for reducing morbidity and mortality from pneumonia and diarrhoea in children under five years of age in Ethiopia, Kenya, Ghana, Malawi, Nigeria, Uganda, the United Republic of Tanzania and Zambia.

Through the processes of undertaking situational analyses and preparing country presentations together, the workshop objective of fostering collaboration and linkages was initiated before the participants arrived in Nairobi. This preparatory work was taken to a higher level during the workshop through country and partner exchanges of ideas and experiences. The successful outcome was that country teams -- including programme managers, health system specialists, planning officers, directors of health services, commissioners of health and partners from the different levels -- made commitments and plans for coordinated action for the control of pneumonia and diarrhoea in children under five years of age.

#### Annex 1:

# "Protect, Prevent, Treat": African Regional Workshop on coordinated approaches to pneumonia and diarrhoea prevention & control Nairobi, Kenya, 25-28 January 2011

### Agenda

DAY	SESSION	Responsible
Day 1: Tu	esday, 25 January 2011	
08:30	Opening session Chairperson for session 9:30- 13:00 Co-chair Rapporteur- Olivier	Head, Department of Family Health T. Cherian
09:30	Overview of GAPP	S. Qazi/WHO
11:00- 13.00	Technical Update BCC/Integrated framework for communication activities Strengthening supply chain Rapporteur- Vismita	Mark Young, UNICEF Diaa Hammamy, USAID Emmanuel Wansi Lora SHIMP
14:00- 17.30	Chairperson: Co-chair Rapporteur- Osman Mansoor Country Presentations: Kenya, Ghana, Ethiopia,	Mark Young Samira Aboubaker
	Malawi Wrap up of Day 1- Olivier + Osman	
Day 2: We	ednesday, 26 January 2011	
08:30- 10:00	Country Presentations Group 1: Nigeria and Tanzania, Ghana, Ethiopia Rapporteur: Tracy	Group 1- Diaa
	Group 2: <b>Uganda and Zambia</b> Malawi, Kenya Rapporteur: Phanuel	Group 2 – David
10:30 -	Feedback from parallel country presentations and	Diaa, David
11:00 11:00 – 11:15	discussions Introduction to country team work	Teshome
11:15- 12.30	Country team work Ethiopia Kenya Ghana Malawi	Diaa, Neena, David Emmanuel, Carsten, Josephine Osman, Olga, Mark

DAY	SESSION	Responsible
	Nigeria Zambia Uganda Tanzania	Tracy, Samira Dyness, Thomas Herbert, Qazi Teshome, Vismita Phanuel, Olivier, Collins
Day 3: T	hursday, 27 January 2011	Chairperson: Osman Co-chair: Collins Rapporteur- Melissa Corkum/Josephine Namboze
8:30- 9:00	Kenya's experience with communication and advocacy	Fred Were
9:00- 9:30 9:30- 10:30	Advocacy and communication for World Pneumonia Day and for Diarrhoea prevention and control Communication and advocacy Rapporteur: Melissa Corkum/Josephine Namboze	Doune Porter  Vismita Gupta-Smith/WHO Collins Boakye- Ayemang/WHO
10:30- 11:00 11:00- 12:00	Tea Beak  Working groups on communication  Group 1: Ethiopia/Ghana  Group 2: Kenya/Malawi  Group 3: Nigeria/Tanzania  Group 4: Uganda/Zambia	Facilitator for each group: - Christin Kisia - Suliman Malik - Rufus Eshuchi - Melissa Corkum
12:00- 13:00 14:00- 17:30	Group work plenary presentation  Country working group on coordinated action	Vismita Gupta-Smith/WHO Collins Boakye- Ayemang/WHO
Day 4: F	riday, 28 January 2011	
08:30- 12:30 14.00- 15:30 16:00- 16:30 16:30	Country presentation Rapporteur: S. Qazi Mechanisms for monitoring implementation Rapporteur: T. Desta Operations research Rapporteur: S. Qazi Funding opportunities 5 minutes presentations by	Chairperson: P. Habimana Chairperson: S. Aboubaker Chairperson: S. Aboubaker Chairperson: S. Aboubaker

DAY	SESSION	Responsible
	USAID, UNICEF, GAVI/HSS, GFATM, BMGF Rapporteur: Mantel	
17:00- 17:30	Wrap-up and closing remarks	S. Aboubaker

#### 25 - 28 January 2011, Nairobi, Kenya

N°	Name	Designation	Organization/Country	Telephone	E-mail
	МОН				
1	Yakob Seman	Health System Strengthening	MOH Ethiopia	251 9498492	mekbul2008@yahoo.com
2	Bezawit Getachew Demissie	EPI Focal Point	MOH Ethiopia	251 911 167430	bezkok@yahoo.com
3	Rahwa Belay Hagos	IMNCT Focal Person	MOH Ethiopia	251 911 715550	rahwabelay2000@yahoo.com
4	Mesfin Gose Beko	Nutrition focal person	MOH Ethiopia	251 911 798669	megobezo10@gmail.com
5	Dr K.O. Antwi-Kgyei	EPI Manager	MOH Ghana	233 302 678078	epighana@africaonline.com.gh
6	Isabella Sagoe -Moses	National Child Health Coordinator	Ghana Health Service	233 244 646065	i sagoemoses@yahoo.com
7	Dr S. K. Sharif	Director of Public Health Services	MOPHS Kenya	254 733813449	sksharif@africaonline.co.ke
8	Dr Annah Wamae	Head, Department of Family Health	MOPHS Kenya	254 722 674681	awanjuzaz@yahoo.com
9	Dr Migiro P. S.	Head, Divison of Child & Adolescent Health	MOPHS Kenya	254 722 518705	dchildhealth@swiftkenya.com
10	Dr Khadija Abdalla	Deputy Head, Divison of Child & Adolescent Health	MOPHS Kenya	254 720 857636	khdjahmed@yahoo.com
11	Dr Jared Omolo	Rappourteur	MOPHS Kenya	254 722 698110	jaredom2000@yahoo.com
12	James Njiru	Nutrition	MOPHS Kenya	254 720 851062	njirukan@yahoo.com
13	Dr Tabu Collins	ADMS (Epidemiologist)	MOPHS/DVI Kenya	254 717 333233	collinstabu@yahoo.com
14	Jane Oburu	CNO & Head Div of Facility Health Services	MOPHS Kenya	254 723 713054	janeoburu@yahoo.com
15	Dr Tabu Collins	ADMS (Epidemiologist)	MOPHS/DVI Kenya	254 717 333233	collinstabu@yahoo.com
	Pepela Wanjala	SHR10	MOPHS/MOMS - HIS Kenya	254 722 375633	wanjala2p@yahoo.com

#### 25 - 28 January 2011, Nairobi, Kenya

N°	Name	Designation	Organization/Country	Telephone	E-mail
17	Mr Norman Lufesi	ETAT Manager	MOH Malawi	265 1757532	nlufesi@yahoo.com
18	Mr Sylvester Kathumba	Principal Nutritionist	MOH Malawi	265 999 350822	kathumbasylvester@gmail.com
19	Mr Newton Temani	National IMCI Officer	MOH Malawi	265 888 896222	newton_temani@yahoo.com
20	Nkoyo W. Onnoghen	Assistant Dir. Comm Health Community Health Officer	FMOH Nigeria	234 803 654994	nkoyowalta@yahoo.co.au
21	Mrs Kate Demehin	Chief Nutrition Officer	FMOH Nigeria	234 803 3130241	kodemehin@yahoo.com
22	Mrs Tinuola A. Taylor	Chief Scientific Officer	FMOH Nigeria	234 708 0238106	idtaylor2@yahoo.com
23	Dr Adamu Nuhu	CMO/Head of Disease Control Div	FMOH/NPHCDA Nigeria	234 802 3031206	adamunuhu2001@yahoo.co.uk
24	Dr James Onah	SMO	NPHCDA Nigeria	234 803 6007903	jnonah494@gmail.com
25	Dr Akin E. Oyemakinde	Consultant	FMOH/DPRS Nigeria	234 803 3120482	gbekeloluwa2003@yahoo.com
26	Dr Barigye Celestine	District Health Officer	MOH Uganda	256 772 415875	barigyec@yahoo.co.uk
27	Dr Gerald Mutungi	SMO Child Health	MOH Uganda	256 772 401429	gmutungi@yahoo.com
28	Dr Maalanti Noah	Medical Officer IMCI	MOH Uganda	256 752 638833	maalanti@yahoo.com
29	Dr Jesca Nsungwa Sabiiti	Assistant Commissioner Child Health	MOH Uganda	256 772 509063	jsabiiti@infocom.co.ug
30	Dr Acton Mwaikemwa	Surveillance Officer	MOH Tanzania	255 756 775085	amwaikemwa@yahoo.com
31	Ms Mary Azayo Mmweteni	Child Health Coordinator	MOH Tanzania	255 784 849159	mmazayo@yahoo.com
32	Dr Maryam Juma Bakary	IMCI Focal Person, Zanzibar	MOH Tanzania	255 773 117433	mam23-jb@yahoo.com
33	Dr Henry Kansembe	Chief Planner	MOH Zambia	260 211 253049	kamsembeh@yahoo.com

#### 25 - 28 January 2011, Nairobi, Kenya

N°	Name	Designation	Organization/Country	Telephone	E-mail
34	Mrs Magdalene Siame	IMCI Focal Person	MOH Zambia	260 222692	siames04@yahoo.com
35	Dr Beatrice C. K. Kafulubiti	Clinical Care Specialist	MOH Zambia	260 977 862368	bckkafulubiti@yahoo.com
	Development Partners & Implementing		,		<u> </u>
26		Deputy Director	Gates Foundation	1 206 6017589	doug.holtzman@gatesfoundation.org
36	Doug Holtzman				
37	Greg Widmyer	Vaccine Delivery	Gates Foundation	1 206 6175539	greg.widmyer@gatesfoundation.org
38	Tasleem Kachla	Senior Programme Officer	Gates Foundation		
39	Lilian Mutea	Programme Management Specialist (MCH)	USAID Kenya	254 714 606517	Imutea@usaid.gov
40	Joseph Monehin	MCH Programme Manager	USAID Nigeria	234 805 5690004	jmonehin@usaid.gov; jmonehin@yahoo.co.uk
41	Raz Stevenson	MCH Advisor	USAID Tanzania	255 22 2668490	rstevenson@usaid.gov
42	Laura Mcgorman	Africa Bureau Health Analyst	USAID Washington	1 202 7120571	Imcgorman@usaid.gov
43	Dr Diaa Hammady	Senior Programme Officer	USAID Washington	1202 712 1722	dhammamy@usaid.gov
44	Rufus Eshuchi	C4D Specialist	UNICEF	254 722 709180	reshuchi@unicef.org
45	Dr Naawa Sipilanyambe	Chief of Health	UNICEF	234 8034020874	nsipilanyambe@unicef.org
46	Dr Tesfaye Shiferaw	Regional Advisor	UNICEF/ESARO	254 20 67622664	tshiferaw@unicef.org
47	Dr Daniel Yayemain	Programme Officer Health & Nutrition	UNICEF Ghana	233 244 606315	dyayemain@unicef.org
48	Eunice Ndungu	CSD Officer	UNICEF Kenya	254 721 421993	endungu@unicef.org
49	Imran Mirza	Immunization Specialist	UNICEF Kenya	254 724 255654	imirza@unicef.org

#### 25 - 28 January 2011, Nairobi, Kenya

N°	Name	Designation	Organization/Country	Telephone	E-mail
14	Name	Designation	Organization/ Country	reiephone	L-IIIdii
50	Grace Miheso	Health Specialist	UNICEF Kenya	254 722 711466	gmiheso@unicef.org
51	Jayne Kariuki	Communication for Dev Specialist	UNICEF Kenya	254 722 511145	jkariuki@unicef.org
52	Thomas Lyimo	Health Specialist	UNICEF Tanzania	255 784 660714	tlyimo@unicef.org
53	Dr Rogers K. Mwale	Child Survival Specialist	UNICEF Zambia	260 211 252055	rkmwale@unicef.org
54	Dr Osman David Mansoor	Sr. Adviser (EPI)	UNICEF USA	1 212 3267410	omansoor@unicef.org
55	Dr Mark Young	Senior Health Specialist	UNICEF New York	1 212 326 7019	myoung@unicef.org
56	Francisco Blanco	Chief, Medicines & Nutrition Centre	UNICEF Supply Division	45 35273070	fblanco@unicef.org
57	Dr John Nduba	Director RCH	AMREF HQ	254 733 757868	johnnduba@amref.org
58	Dr Emmanuel Akach	PM	AMREF	254 721 240663	bob.akach@amref.org
59	Dr Rose Kamenwa	Lecturer	Aga Khan UniversityHospital	254 722 854954	wanjiru 2000@yahoo.com
60	Judith Kallenberg	Manager, Country Programme, Vaccines	CHAI	254 7140942	jkallenberg@clintonhealthaccess.org
61	Dr Jern Heldrop	Senior Programme Manager	GAVI		jheldrop@gavia11acc.org
62	Alethea G. Venida	Advocacy & Communication Associate	IVAC JHSPH USA	1 303 3358532	alethea.venida@gmail.com
63	Margaret Mungai	Health Manager	Kenya Red Cross	254 722 491537	mungai.margaret@kenyaredcross.org
64	Athuman Chiguzo	SPA	Management Sciences for Health (MSH) Nairobi	254 722 756962	achiguzo@msh-kenya.org
65	Masad Sheriff	Project Officer	MSH (SUPKEM)	254 722 555388	masadshriff@yahoo.com
66	Timothy Kachule	Deputy Chief of Party	MSH - BASICS Malawi	265 888 966979	tkachule@msh.org

#### 25 - 28 January 2011, Nairobi, Kenya

N°	Name	Designation	Organization/Country	Telephone	E-mail
67	Nellie Luchemo	Executive Director	OHEDC Venya	254 722 275254	ohers@rediffmail.com
67	Neme Luchemo	Executive Director	OHERS Kenya	254 722 375354	oners@rediffmail.com
68	Doune Porter	AVI Manager - Advocacy & Communication	РАТН	41 79 9112558	dporter@path.org
69	Alfred J. B. O. Odhiambo	Programme Officer - EDDC	PATH/MCHIP Kenya	254 727 046101	aochola@path.org; aliochola@yahoo.com
				254 20 3877177	
70	Dr Turi Omollo	Communications & Advocacy Officer	PATH/Kenya	254 721 771258	tomollo@path.org
71	Anthony Kanjah	Child Survival Program Manager	PSI Kenya	254 722 996599	akanja@psikenya.org
72	Dr Evans Mokaya	TA - Immunization	MCHIP/USAID Kenya	254 733 297204	emokaya@mchip.or.ke
73	Dr Norbert Rakiro	Child Health Technical Advisor	MCHIP/USAID Kenya	254 722 322509	rakironorbert@aol.com
/3	DI NOIDEIT KARIIO	Ciliu neatti Teciliicai Auvisoi	MCHIF/USAID Kenya	234 / 22 322309	Takifolioi bert @ aoi.com
74	Lora Shimp	Sr. Technical Advisor - Immunization	MCHIP/JSI USA	1 202 8353129	lshimp@jsi.com
75	Dr Dyness Kasungami	Child Health Team Leader	MCHIP/USAID - USA	1 202 83531580	dkasung@googlemail.com; dkasungami@mchip.net
76	Emmanuel Wansi	Sr Technical Advisor MCHIP	MCHIP/USAID USA		ewansi@mchip.net
			·		
77	David Marsh	Senior Advisor Child Survival Quality Improvement Clinical Care Team	Save the Children	1 413 2308297	dmarsh@savechildren.org
78	Dr Victoria Musonda	Leader	ZISSP USAID	260 1 254555	victoriadmusonda@yahoo.com
79	Busseti Chiara	Paediatrician	World Friends Kenya	254 715 581313	chiarabus@gmail.com
80	Mesfin Loha	Director Health East Africa Region	World Vision International	254 733 770120	mesfin_loha@wvi.org
81	Mesfin Teklu	MCHN	World Vision International	254 733 628583	mesfin.teklu@wvi.org
	WHO			-	
82	Stanley Diamenu	EPI Focal Point	WHO Ghana	233 244 312896	diamenus@gh.afro.who.int
UΔ	Jamey Diamenu	ET I FOCAL FULLIC	vv 110 Ullalla	433 444 314030	ulamenus@gn.ano.wno.int

#### 25 - 28 January 2011, Nairobi, Kenya

N°	Name	Designation	Organization/Country	Telephone	E-mail
83	Dr Goitom Weldegebriel	Medical Officer	WHO Nigeria	234 803 6591332	weldegebrielg@ng.afro.who.int
84	Dr Andrew Mbewe	САН	WHO Nigeria	234 803 5354873	mbewea@ng.afro.who.int
85	Dr Geoffrey Bisoborwa	NPO/CAH	WHO Uganda	256 772 453375	bisoborwag@ug.who.int
86	Dr Banura Patrick	NPO/EPI	WHO Uganda	256 782491510	banurap@ug.afro.who.int
87	Chris Kamugisha	IVD Focal Person	WHO Tanzania	255 756 959544	kamugishac@tz.afro.who.int
88	Iriya Nemes	NOP/CAH	WHO Tanzania	255 754 663355	iriyan@tz.afro.who.int
89	Mary Katepa-Bwalya	NPO/CAH	WHO Zambia	260 211 255322	bwalyam@zm.afro.who.int
90	Helen Mutambo	NPO/Immunization (EPI Focal Point)	WHO Zambia	260 211 255322	mutamboh@zm.afro.who.int
91	Kwame Chiwaya	NPO/EPI	WHO Malawi	265 999 659907	chiwayak@mw.afro.who.int
92	Kwame Chiwaya	NPO/EPI	WHO Malawi	265 999 659907	chiwayak@mw.afro.who.int
93	Susan Kambale	NPO/CAH	WHO Malawi	265 1 772 450	kambales@mw.afro.who.int
94	Mary Katepa-Bwalya	NPO/CAH	WHO Zambia	260 211 255322	bwalyam@zm.afro.who.int
95	Helen Mutambo	NPO Immunization (EPI Focal Point)	WHO Zambia	260 211 255322	mutamboh@zm.afro.who.int
96	Shamim Qazi	Medical Officer	WHO Geneva	41 22 7912547	gazis@who.int
97	Dr Carsten Mantel	HQ/EPI	WHO Geneva	41 79 3325480	mantelc@who.int
98	Thomas Cherian	EPI Coordinator	WHO Geneva	41 72 7914460	cheriant@who.int
99	Tracey Goodman	EPI Team Dept of Immunization, Vaccines & Biological IVB	WHO Geneva	41 22 791 2947	goodmant@who.int

#### 25 - 28 January 2011, Nairobi, Kenya

N°	Name	Designation	Organization/Country	Telephone	E-mail
100	Olivier Fontaine	Medical Officer	WHO Geneva	41 22 791 2894	fontaineo@who.int
101	Ms. G. Mayers	Technical Officer	WHO Geneva	41 79 249 3548	mayersg@who.int
		Coordinator, Country Implementation &			
102	Dr Samira Aboubaker	Support CAH/IHQ	WHO Geneva	41 22 791 2618	aboubakars@who.int
102	Dagbay Harbart	Medical Officer	MALIO /ICT /CA	241 07582043 9835651	do aboub @ ac ofro who int
103	Degbey Herbert	Medical Officer	WHO/IST/CA	9835051	degbeyh@ga.afro.who.int
104	Dr Josephine Namboze	IST/MAL/ESA	WHO/IST/ESA	256 752 644122	nambozej@zw.afro.who.int
101	Di josephine ivamboze	io i prinzi zori	Wileyisiy Esii	200702011122	named26j@2:wane.wienit
105	Dr Josephine Namboze	IST/MAL/ESA	WHO/IST/ESA	256 752 644122	nambozej@zw.afro.who.int
	-				
106	Dr Olga Adjoa Agbodjan-Prince	Medical Officer CAH	WHO/IST/WA	226 70658516	agbodjano@bf.afro.who.int
405	W 5.	D	VIVIO 07 A D O	04.44.000=004	
107	Neena Raina	Regional Adviser CAH	WHO SEARO	91 11 23370804	rainan@searo.who.int
108	Vismita Gupta-Snider	Public information & Advocacy Officer	WHO SEARO	911 9871329861	guptasmithv@searo.coho.int
100	D. D LILL:	D. M. CAW	VANIA (A ED O	040 55 (4500)	
109	Dr Phanuel Habimana	Programme Manager, CAH	WHO/AFRO	242 55645006	habimanap@afro.who.int
110	Mr Collins Boakye-Agyemany	Communications & Advocacy Officer	WHO/AFRO	472 413 9420	boakyec@afro.who.int
111	Dr Assumpta Muriithi	NPO/CAH	WHO Kenya	254 723 412992	muriithia@ke.afro.who.int
112	Dr Mohamed Duale	EPI Focal Point	WHO Kenya	254 733 600123	dualem@ke.afro.who.int
112	Dr Christine Kisia	NPO/HPR	WHO Kenya	254 721 213969	kisiac@ke.afro.who.int
113	DI CHI ISUITE NISIA	NrU/ nrn	wno keliya	434 / 41 413909	NISIAU W NE. AITU. WITU. IITI

#### Annex 3:

### Outcome of country team group work

Country	Recommended Actions	Responsible	Date
KENYA	1. Gather evidence for antibiotics, Vitamin A and zinc use at community level through CHWs	DFH/CHICC	02/11
	2. Present CCM effectiveness evidence to ICC for endorsement.	Drs Kamenwa, Muriithi, Rakiro, Miheso, and Jane Koech	06/11
	3. Develop Ghantt charts to identify areas of overlap for joint activities.	DFH/MCHIP	04/11
	4. Hold meetings between divisions in DFH to review previous activities and plan upcoming activities.	DFH	05/11
	5. Advocate for CMEs for HWs on diarrhoea and pneumonia management.	DFH	06/11
	6. Commence adaptation of IMCI Computerized Adaptation &Training Tools (ICATT) and initiate revival of joint drug quantification meeting.	DCAH/WHO	06/11
	7. Lobby partners for supplementary funding of commodity gaps.	DFH/ICC	03/11
	8. Advocate with health managers for the revival of facility level supervisory meetings.	DFH	04/11

	9. Finalize CHWs curriculum, initiate the development guidelines for CCM and initiate adaptation of CCM training materials.	DCHS, WHO,DCAH, UNICEF, MCHIP	05/11
	10. Finalize the KAP survey/evaluations on child survival to inform communication strategies. (work in progress, funding available) – Short term. DCAH.	DCAH/UNICEF	04/11
	11. Finalise the CSD communications strategy.	DCAH/UNICEF	06/11
	12. Provide OJT and mentorship to health managers.	DFH	06/11
	13. Ensure the ongoing revision of HMIS tools include indicator for zinc.	DCAH/HMIS	Ongoing
	14. Ensure that the diarrhoea and pneumonia interventions are included in the AOP 7.(CCM training, HWs refresher training, CMEs ).	DCH, WHO,UNICEF	05/11
	15. Organise meeting with Parliamentary Health Committee to sensitize them on the need to fund diarrhoea & pneumonia interventions at community level.	DCH, WHO, UNICEF, KPA	04/11
	16. Reactivate relationship with KEPSA.	DCAH/UNICEF	05/11
	17. Use communiqué on HII to lobby development partners for funding pneumonia and diarrhoea interventions.	DFH/WHO/UNI CEF/USAID	04/11 Onward
GHANA	1. Briefing session for CHC members and other key stakeholders on the Nairobi workshop and way forward.	Child Health Coordinator and EPI manager	end 3/11
	2. Find out existence of WASH committee and lobby for representation of Child	UNICEF	15/02/11

	Health on the Committee.		
	3. Invite the MOE, Local Gov & RD, Min of Water resources and Works and Housing to serve on CH committee (If WASH Committee does not exist).	Child Health Coordinator	end 3/11
ЕТНІОРІА	1. Revitalize Child Survival Technical Working Group (CSTWG) and increase membership.	Director of FHD	end 3/11
	2. Identify reasons for non-availability of life saving case management medicines (zinc, low osmolarity ORS).	Director of FHD and CSTWG	end 6/11
	3. Advocate to policy makers to produce and/or procure medicines.	FHD, CSTWG, DACA, PFSA	end 9/11
	4. Develop concept note proposing options for production and procurement.	CSTWG	end 9/11
	5. Train supervisors in ICCM and supervisory skills.	ICCM partners.	end 3/11
	6. Review integrated Health Extension Worker supervisory checklist for CCM content.	ICCM WG	end 6/11
	7. Review supervision strategy to test alternatives. (medium term).	CSTWG	end 12/11
	8. Review HMIS indicators.	FHD, CSTWG	end 3/11
	9. Produce twice yearly bulletin reporting progress and use findings for advocacy.	CSTWG	end 6/11
	10. Participate in regional and national review meetings.	FMOH	on-going
	11. Advocate for and facilitate periodic household and health facility surveys.	FMOH, CSTWG	periodic

MALAWI	1. Update the ACSD policy to include emerging issues.	IMCI Unit	06/11
	2. MOH to form a coordination committee for child health activities.	DPHS	03/11
	3. Advocate for more resources to speed up the scale up ETAT.	ETAT/ARI Manager	12/11
	4. Develop the comprehensive communication strategy for child health.	ACSD/IMCI TWG	12/11
	5. Capacity building for data management and harmonization meetings for HMIS and programme coordinators.	IMCI Unit	12/11
NIGERIA	Strengthening informal communication including generation of a mailing list.	DPRS	2011
	2. Map out roles and responsibilities of different components within MNCH.	MNCH Core Technical Cmt	2011
	3. Leverage funds from Malaria, HIV and TB for integrated training on childhood illnesses including pneumonia and diarrhoea.	MNCH Core Technical Cmt	2011
	4. Mapping of the different States supply chain systems with the ultimate aim of integrating the supply chain system.	MNCH Core Technical Cmt	2011
	5. Train Role Model Caregivers in management of pneumonia and diarrhoea diseases.	NPHCDA/NMCP	2011

	6. Advocate for the inclusion of pneumonia and diarrhoea in Immunization Plus Days (IPD) communication and social mobilization plans.	Family Health	2011
	7. Advocacy to State, LGA Chairmen, Councillors of health and the private sector on training and supervision of health workers on the use of the National referral forms	DPRS	2011
	8. Engage the MDG office on the burden contributed by pneumonia and diarrhoea to under five mortality and present a proposal for funding of procurement and distribution of antibiotics, low osmolarity ORS and Zinc.	DPRS/MNCH CTC/NPHCDA	2011
TANZANIA	1. To identify communities with poor access and use existing REC framework and outreach services in order to provide care for pneumonia and diarrhea at community level.	MOH/Regions/Di stricts	12/11
	2. To provide integrated promotive, preventive and curative health services through Village Health Days.	MOH/PORALG/ CHMT/RHMT/ Partners	9/11
	3. To support establishment and sustaining of Media Alliance for Child survival.	MOH/Media institutions/Media Houses/Ministry of Comm/Comm Dev Gender and women	5/11
	4. Advocate inclusion of iCCM in the CHW curriculum/training guidelines in development under Primary Health services and Dev program (2007- 217).	RCH/TFDA/PSU	5/11

UGANDA	1. Develop framework to support integration of PPT Intervention across programmes.	MOH community and clinical health	2/11- 7/11
	2. Advocate for the implementation of the Framework for integration & resources.	MOH community and clinical health	2/11- 7/11
	3. Establish and operation of a Child Survival Coordination committee to oversee the implementation of the above framework.	MOH community and clinical health	2/11- 7/11
	4. Build capacity for planning and management at all levels (National , District & lower levels).	MOH Division of Child Health	2/11- 7/11
	5. Develop standards for quality of care at facility & community level.	MOH Division of Child Health	2/11- 7/11
	6. Harmonize the BCC components of the Child Survival strategy.	MOH Division of Child Health	2/11- 7/11
	7. Increase the capacity of the current EPI programme in preparation to operationalize the policy of new vaccine introduction (Rota & pneumococcal).	MOH/UNEPI	ongoing
ZAMBIA	1. To review the Comprehensive National Health Policy to ensure it encompasses the national community health workers and healthcare financing issues.	MOH directorate of policy and planning	2011
	2. Develop a comprehensive national plan for essential medicines and community needs.	MOH directorate of clinical care	2011

3. Engage donors to support health system strengthening and priority child health programmes. Recommend for of an interministerial committee for the establishment of an SHI.	MOH directorate of policy and planning	2011
4. MOH to increase budget allocation to the retention scheme. Advocate for increased funding of health sector by government and donors. Include health system strengthening in proposal to World Bank, GAVI and GFTAM. Expedite the financing and implementation of the national community health worker strategy.	MOH directorate of Human Resources and Administration	2011